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Douglas Shire Council acknowledges the traditional Country of the Eastern Kuku Yalanji Peoples and the 
Djabugay Nation People of the coastal areas and rainforest of the Douglas Shire. We recognise that these 
have always been and continue to be places of cultural and spiritual significance. We acknowledge and 
cherish the important contribution made by Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people to the Douglas Shire 
community, and pay respects to their Elders – past, present and emerging.
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Introduction
In accordance with the Local Government Act 2009, Douglas Shire Council must publish an Annual Report, which provides 
an update to the community about Council’s finances, performance and how Council has delivered against the Corporate and 
Operational Plans. The Local Government Act 2009 requires particular information to be included in the Annual Report. 

Where to Get a Copy
The Annual Report can be downloaded via Council’s website douglas.qld.gov.au/council-information/publications-reports/

In line with Council’s commitment to preserving the environment and using resources sustainably, only a limited number of hard 
copies of the Annual Report are produced each year. These can be viewed by the public at the Mossman Administration Building 
in Front Street, Mossman and in Council Libraries and community hubs. Alternatively, a copy of the report can be requested by 
calling Council’s Customer Contact Centre on (07) 4099 9544.

Accessibility Statement
The Annual Report can be translated into alternative languages by calling the National Translating and Interpreting Service (TIS)  
on 13 14 50. The Free Interpreting Service (FIS) is an Australian Government funded service that is available to Local Governments 
and eligible agency groups to ensure non-English speakers can access key services in Australia. The FIS offers a free and 
confidential service delivered by professional interpreters supporting accurate communication.
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About Douglas Shire
History
The First Peoples of the Douglas region are the 
Kuku Yalanji whose country extends from the 
Mowbray River in the south to Cooktown in the north 
and Palmer River in the west. From the Mowbray River, 
south to Cairns are the traditional homelands of the 
Djabugay Nation People. 

The Kuku Yalanji and Djabugay Nation are rainforest 
people whose connection to the region extends back 
50,000 years to be among the earliest human occupants 
in Australia. European habitation in the Douglas Shire 
began in the 1870s as George Elphinstone Dalrymple 
led the first extensive exploration of the region. 
Dalrymple thought the country “surrounded by a 
panorama of great beauty … a perfect picture of rich 
tropical country”. 

Within the decade, gold miners supplied from 
Port Douglas, timber cutters logging the much-
prized red cedar, cattle graziers, and farmers of 

vegetables, maize and sugar had all begun to make 
their mark. Farming expanded along the coastal belt as 
extensive areas of lowland rainforest were cleared and 
settlements were established throughout the area. 

Cultural diversity is integral to Douglas Shire’s history. 
According to the 1886 census, almost two-thirds of 
the district’s population were of Chinese heritage. 
By the 1890s, the sugar cane industry depended on 
Chinese and South Sea Islander (Kanaka) labour. 
These populations were joined by Hindu, Punjabi and 
Japanese migrants in the 1900s. 

The Shire of Douglas existed as a local government 
entity from 1880 until 2008 when it was amalgamated 
with Cairns City to create the Cairns Regional Council. 
Five years later, Queensland Minister for Local 
Government granted residents a poll in which a majority 
of electors (57%) voted in favour of de-amalgamation. 
The Douglas Shire Council started for the second time 
on 1 January 2014 with a new Mayor and four new  
non-divisional Councillors.
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Port Douglas
Port Douglas continues to be a key destination for reef 
tours, nature experiences and community events. As a 
gateway to two World Heritage areas (the Great Barrier 
Reef and the Daintree Rainforest) it draws a diverse 
mix of visitors, including honeymooners, domestic 
and international travellers and a strong backpacker 
community who contribute to the local workforce and 
culture. The town is also seeing a growing population of 
families and Council is actively exploring ways to open 
up more housing opportunities, including progressing 
Stage Two of the Craiglie residential development. 

The town’s foreshore is evolving, with a new Splash Park 
adding vibrancy and appeal. A growing calendar of 
events, including the acclaimed Port Douglas Carnivale 
as well as cycling festivals, fun runs and the Port Shorts 
Film Festival, reflects the town’s active and creative spirit.

Mossman Gorge
The gorge welcomes more visitors annually than Uluru, 
a testament to its national importance. The Mossman 
Gorge Cultural Centre continues to create training 
and career pathways for young Indigenous people, 
empowering the next generation of Eastern Kuku Yalanji 
leaders. In a major sustainability milestone, the centre 
upgraded its shuttle fleet with two fully-electric, buses—
Kurranji (Cassowary) and Kurriyala (Carpet Snake)—with 
plans to convert half the fleet to zero-emission vehicles 
within 12 months. These eco-sensitive buses enhance 
the experience for over 300,000 annual visitors.

Daintree Region
North of the Daintree River lies a landscape of ancient 
rainforest, remote communities and a laid-back 
lifestyle. Cape Tribulation regularly welcomes bus tours, 
campers and nature lovers drawn to its chilled vibe 
and eclectic mix of residents. Towns like Cow Bay and 
Diwan offer a unique blend of rainforest living, creativity 
and community spirit. Council continues to invest in 
infrastructure and connectivity to support residents 
and visitors in this remote but vital part of the shire. 
The Daintree Ferry remains a vital connector for this 
region. It is essential for residents and services, and a 
memorable part of the travel experience for visitors. 

Agriculture 
Agriculture remains a vital part of the Douglas Shire’s 
economy and identity. Despite the closure of the 
Mossman Mill, the sugarcane industry continues to 
operate, with harvested cane now transported by truck 
to the Mulgrave Mill. 

In addition to traditional crops, trials are underway on 
former sugarcane land to explore alternative uses, 
including sorghum and bana grass—part of a broader 
effort to diversify agricultural production and support 
landowners through changing market conditions. 
The region supports a mix of agricultural ventures, 
including cattle grazing and boutique industries such 
as chocolate production, which are gaining popularity 
with both locals and visitors. These enterprises reflect 
the shire’s adaptability and innovation in land use, 
contributing to a resilient and evolving agricultural 
landscape.

Sustainability
Douglas Shire is proud to be Australia’s first Eco-
Certified Destination, recognised for its leadership 
in sustainable tourism and environmental protection. 
Our region offers immersive rainforest and reef 
tours that educate visitors about the delicate 
ecosystems we’re privileged to protect, fostering a 
deeper appreciation for conservation and Country. 
From electric shuttle buses at Mossman Gorge and 
reef restoration programs to rainforest preservation and 
low-impact visitor experiences, the shire continues to 
set a benchmark for responsible tourism. Council also 
supports practical sustainability initiatives, including 
the development of drink stations—reducing the use 
of plastic bottles, coffee cup recycling programs, 
free mulch to help residents reduce water use and 
water education campaigns at local schools.

Indigenous Culture
Douglas Shire is proud to be home to the Eastern 
Kuku Yalanji and Yirrganydji people, whose enduring 
connection to land and sea is central to the region’s 
identity. Indigenous culture is celebrated through 
events such as NAIDOC Week, Reconciliation Week, 
art installations, and community-led initiatives like the 
Yalanji RAW fun run and walk.

Council works closely with First Nations organisations 
to support cultural, social, and economic wellbeing. 
Jabalbina Yalanji Aboriginal Corporation plays a 
key role in land management and cultural heritage 
protection, while the National Indigenous Training 
Academy provides pathways for young Aboriginal 
and Torres Strait Islander people into tourism and 
hospitality careers. The Mossman Elders Justice Group 
continues to offer vital support and advocacy, helping 
to strengthen community resilience and promote 
restorative justice.

Regional Profile
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Message from the Mayor
There was a collective sigh of relief across Douglas Shire 
when Mother Nature spared us a Cyclone Jasper encore 
during the 2024-2025 wet season. That reprieve gave 
us the space to continue the vital work of rebuilding and 
future-proofing our region. It is work that began in the 
wake of Jasper and remains ongoing.

Thanks to the Queensland Reconstruction Authority 
(QRA), we’ve been able to keep critical roadworks 
at Noah and Alexandra Ranges moving forward. 
These upgrades have improved safety, reduced 
travel times and supported tourism and emergency 
access in some of our most remote areas. The scale 
and complexity of these works reflect 
our commitment to maintaining vital 
connections across the shire and providing 
greater confidence to our communities 
north of the river.

The formation of a dedicated Disaster 
Management Unit has also proved 
important, ensuring our community has a 
full-time team focused on recovery and 
preparedness.

This year also saw progress on projects that will shape 
our region for years to come. The Daintree Ferry 
replacement project reached key milestones, with 
the landside infrastructure contract awarded and the 
new ferry design released for tender. With more than 
$9 million committed to surrounding road upgrades, 
including priority lanes and dual exits, the approaches 
on either side of the river will begin to look very 
different next year, improving access and reducing 
congestion for locals and visitors alike. This is a once-
in-a-generation investment in one of our most iconic 
transport links.

In Port Douglas, the long-awaited Splash Park is finally 
taking shape. Supported by significant Queensland 
Government funding, the $4.75 million project reached 
major construction milestones. Once the waterplay 
features were installed – including a giant jellyfish,  
crabs and water blasters – the community’s excitement 
began to grow. We expect the venue will be a drawcard 
for local families and visitors, adding a new layer of fun 
and vibrancy to our foreshore precinct.

We celebrated the vibrancy of our region through 
events and cultural initiatives. Carnivale continues to 
evolve, with new additions like Savannah Sounds and 

the Maho Magic Bar drawing thousands to our tropical 
celebration. We welcomed new citizens on the Australia 
Day long weekend and honoured our First Nations 
peoples through Reconciliation and NAIDOC events, 
including the Yalanji RAW fun run and walk from 
Mossman Gorge. 

Council made strong inroads on 
infrastructure and community wellbeing 
– from water network upgrades and new 
playgrounds, to lighting for local sports 
clubs and support for creative projects 
through the Regional Arts Development 
Fund. These investments are about more 
than just facilities – they’re about creating 
spaces where people can connect, thrive, 
and feel proud to call Douglas home.

Together, we’ve laid the groundwork for a stronger, 
more resilient Douglas Shire. I’m proud of what we’ve 
achieved and am confident that 2025/2026 will be even 
more impactful.

Mayor, Lisa Scomazzon

…These investments 
are about more than 
just facilities—they’re 
about creating 
spaces where people 
can connect, thrive, 
and feel proud to call 
Douglas home.
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Councillor  
Roy Zammataro, 
Deputy Mayor
This is my third term on Council, 
and I am both humbled and 
grateful for the trust the residents 
of the Douglas Shire have once 
again placed in me.

I remain deeply passionate about protecting the 
unique environment that makes our region so special. 
With the steady decline of the sugar industry, tourism 
is becoming the shire’s largest employer. It is vital 
that we continue to support the tourism industry while 
carefully safeguarding our natural environment and 
working towards establishing alternative crops to keep 
agriculture in the shire viable.

Equally important is our support for small businesses. 
They are the backbone of our local economy and play  
a central role in the life of our community.

The impacts of Cyclone Jasper are still being felt, with 
rehabilitation works continuing across our road network. 
Addressing these challenges has required resilience 
and commitment and I acknowledge the community’s 
patience as this work progresses.

As a councillor, my role is not only to listen to our 
community but also to take action to address the 
issues that matter most to our residents. I also wish 
to recognise my fellow councillors. While we may not 
agree on every decision, we have worked together 
as a respectful and collaborative team, guided by 
strong leadership.

Douglas Shire is a truly unique place, and I remain 
committed to ensuring it stays that way. It is an honour 
to serve this community, and I am proud to be deeply 
invested in shaping a positive future for the shire we 
all love.

Councillor Profiles
Councillor  
Abigail Noli
It’s an honour to continue serving 
the Douglas Shire community, 
a responsibility I hold with 
deep respect. As councillor, 
I’ve focused on initiatives that 
reflect our region’s values of 

environmental stewardship, community wellbeing and 
transparent governance.

This past year has been one of meaningful progress, 
a year of recovery, renewal, and forward planning and 
I’m proud to have played a key role. 

I represent Douglas on the Reef Guardian Council 
Program’s Executive Committee. This partnership has 
secured $900,000 in federal funding to combat illegal 
dumping, improve water quality, and reduce our carbon 
footprint. Expansion of the long-standing feral pig 
control activities in partnership with landholders and 
Traditional Owners has seen 700 pigs eradicated under 
this program. I am also on the Local Marine Advisory 
Committee, ensuring our coastal and marine interests 
are well represented. 

I am a Regional Arts Development Fund (RADF) 
Committee Member, as I believe that fostering cultural 
vibrancy is essential to our identity and economy. 
This year one new project was the formation of the 
Douglas Shire writer’s festival. 

I supported the development of Kuku Bakal 
Kaykayanda—Giving Voice to Children and Young 
People, a disaster recovery initiative focused on youth 
empowerment following Cyclone Jasper, I strongly 
believe in the youth and the importance they have for 
the future. 

I’ve advocated for financial fairness, supporting the 
adoption of a revised Rates and Charges Financial 
Hardship Policy. I also backed the freeze on key 
fees and charges for 2024-2025 to ease the burden 
on households and businesses recovering from the 
cyclone. With a freeze on most of the charges that 
directly impact on residents and businesses, such as 
animal registrations, community hall and park hire, 
planning, building and plumbing application fees, 
approvals for businesses to name a few.

These actions reflect my dedication to Douglas, looking 
ahead, I remain committed to protecting the unique 
character of our shire while planning responsibly for 
its future. Thank you for your trust, your input, and your 
passion for this remarkable place we call home.

Douglas Shire Annual Report 2024-202510



Councillor  
Damian Meadows
Over the past 12 months, 
significant developments have 
transpired. Our new CEO, 
Scott Osman, has assumed the 
helm, demonstrating robust and 
efficient leadership across the 

operational aspects of Council. Service delivery remains 
a paramount priority.

While we continue to rebuild following the devastating 
impact of Tropical Cyclone Jasper, Council has 
systematically executed repairs and improvements to 
damaged infrastructure in a timely and effective manner.

One notable achievement is the completion of works on 
the severely affected Alexandra Range section of Cape 
Tribulation Road. The collective efforts of all involved 
were truly remarkable.

Two key areas that continue to occupy my attention are 
fiscal responsibility and core business. Maintaining a 
financially viable council is crucial to ensure effective 
and timely service delivery, particularly in an era where 
cost-shifting is increasingly prevalent in state and 
federal policies.

Furthermore, it is imperative to identify Council’s core 
business and responsibilities to enable efficient and 
cost-effective delivery of services. 

I have also had the privilege of spending time with our 
Disaster Management Unit. It is impressive to witness 
how they consistently enhance their strategies and 
preparedness, ensuring that the shire is adequately 
equipped to respond to the escalating frequency and 
severity of natural disasters. 

Several major projects have progressed or have 
been completed including the Port Douglas Splash 
Park, the water interconnector between the Mossman 
River intake and Whyanbeel, substantial upgrades 
to water infrastructure while plans for shoreline 
infrastructure, in preparation for the new Daintree Ferry, 
are well advanced.

Finally, I want to acknowledge the tireless work and 
unwavering commitment of my fellow councillors. 
With robust discussion, mutual respect, and dedication 
fostering productive collaboration and positive 
outcomes, we are assured that we will continue to 
effectively represent our community. 

Councillor  
Michael Rees
Since being elected to Council, 
significant recovery work has 
taken place across Douglas 
Shire, alongside strong 
progress on key infrastructure 
projects. These include 

upgrades to our water infrastructure, road network, 
the Splash Park, the Daintree Ferry (including ramps 
and gateway infrastructure) and ongoing work towards 
Noah Bridge.

As your Councillor, I’ve focused on building a culture 
that empowers our teams. A big part of this has been 
promoting Council’s work through various social 
media channels to keep our community informed 
and engaged. I believe supporting our hardworking 
Operations Team has helped improve services and 
enhance liveability across the shire.

A major milestone is the extensive work north 
of the Daintree River, which is now nearing 
completion—a significant achievement I’m proud of.

Recently, I’ve shifted from a recovery focus to a 
more strategic direction. This includes advancing 
the conversation around our long-term economic 
development strategy to ensure a resilient, future-
ready Douglas Shire. Continued funding for Tourism 
Port Douglas Daintree (TPDD) was another key 
decision. The TPDD team has delivered strong results 
through marketing and events, supporting our biggest 
industry—tourism.

One initiative I’m especially proud of is a motion 
I brought to Council on environmental offsets. Currently, 
when Council clears environmentally significant land 
and on-ground offsets aren’t possible, fees paid 
to the State often leave our region. My motion—
now going to the State Government Association of 
Queensland conference—calls for these funds to 
be reinvested locally. If adopted, it could deliver 
long-term environmental and economic benefits for 
our community.

One of the most rewarding parts of being a Councillor 
is the quiet, everyday conversations—whether it’s over 
a coffee, in someone’s home, or a quick chat in aisle 
five at Woolies. Those genuine moments with residents 
mean the world to me and will always hold a special 
place in my heart.
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Message from the CEO
It has been a privilege to serve as Chief Executive Officer 
of Douglas Shire Council over the past eight months. 
I extend my sincere thanks to Mayor Lisa Scomazzon 
and the Councillors for their confidence and support in 
appointing me to lead this organisation. Together, we are 
committed to delivering essential services and building a 
resilient and prosperous future for our diverse region.

In November, Queensland’s water regulator toured our 
facilities and commended Council’s improved practices 
and significant upgrades to the pipe network. While this 
recognition is encouraging, water security remains 
a critical challenge—particularly during wet weather 
events, which cause high turbidity levels in our supply 
and impact service reliability.

The ongoing recovery from Tropical Cyclone Jasper 
continues to demand significant resources, 
especially in communities north of the 
Daintree River. We are grateful for the 
continued support of the Queensland 
Reconstruction Authority, whose assistance 
has made vital upgrades possible. Council 
has responded with a strong focus on 
restoring roads and water infrastructure, 
supporting community recovery, 
and establishing a dedicated Disaster 
Management Unit to enhance future 
preparedness and response. 

This commitment to resilience was recognised during 
2024-2025, when Council received an Excellence 
Award for its Resilience Strategy and Scorecards 
project. Developed through extensive community 
engagement, the scorecards empower local 
communities to identify their own risks and priorities 
during disaster events—ensuring that recovery and 
planning efforts are locally informed and responsive. 
The recognition from the Queensland Awards for 
Planning Excellence confirms that we are on the right 
path in building a safer, more resilient Douglas Shire.

We are also working to support the long-term 
sustainability of our local economy. This includes 
exploring new industries and adapting the sugar cane 
sector to ensure ongoing employment and viability. 

Tourism remains our largest economic driver, and 
we continue to advocate for and support Tourism 
Port Douglas Daintree, while proudly retaining our 
eco-tourism accreditation. This reflects our commitment 

to environmental stewardship and sustainable 
development. Council is also supporting development 
projects that will increase housing opportunities 
for families and remains open to new development 
opportunities across the region. While cane farming 
continues, our community is actively exploring new 
ways to advance the agricultural sector. Council will be 
supporting them throughout this journey.

A major achievement this year was the 
development of our new Corporate Plan 
2025–2030, which sets a clear strategic 
direction for the next five years. The four 
strategic themes, Liveability, Prosperity, 
Service Delivery, and Recovery and 
Resilience will guide how Council delivers 
the key areas of focus outlined with the 
Corporate Plan over the next five years. 
Thank you to all the staff within Council 
and also to the community members who 
took the time to meet with their Elected 

Representatives and myself to share their thoughts 
when we were drafting the Corporate Plan.

Earlier this year, both State and Federal elections 
brought changes in government, and Council remains 
focused on building strong relationships with our local 
MPs to ensure the needs of our community are well 
represented.

CEO, Scott Osman

A major achievement 
this year was the 
development of our 
new Corporate Plan 
2025-2030, which 
sets a clear strategic 
direction for the next 
five years.
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Scott Osman, Chief Executive Officer
Scott commenced at Douglas Shire Council in late October 2024 and has over 15 years of 
Queensland Local Government experience, having held numerous roles commencing at 
the City of Gold Coast Council, Scenic Rim Regional Council and prior to joining Douglas 
Shire Council held the position of interim CEO at Paroo Shire Council.

Scott holds a Bachelor of Business majoring in Accounting from Southern Cross University, 
and is a member of the Institute of Public Works Engineering Australasia (IPWEA) and 
Local Government Managers Australia (LGMA).

Scott is looking to develop a constructive culture through mentoring consistent and capable leadership, the delivery 
of Council services based on contemporary practice, and ensuring a safe and capable workplace.

Matthew Eastham ASM, General Manager TC Jasper  
Corporate & Communities
Matt commenced with Douglas Shire Council in 2024 and has held senior executive 
roles including Chief Executive Officer, General Manager, and Director, leading complex 
organisations through reform, recovery, and capability building.

He holds a bachelor’s degree and postgraduate qualifications in health-related disciplines, 
along with a Master of Management and Leadership. Matt is a Graduate of the Australian 
Institute of Company Directors, a member of several professional bodies, and has served 

on governance and advisory boards, including the Clinical Senate for the Northern Territory.

He is an active mentor through Local Government Managers Australia (LGMA) and is passionate about strategy, 
building capability, developing emerging leaders, and strengthening workplace culture. Matt also brings significant 
experience in disaster management and recovery across multiple jurisdictions.

Derek Langman, Chief Engineer
Derek Langman is the Chief Engineer at Douglas Shire Council, where he leads critical 
infrastructure planning and recovery initiatives, including the Tropical Cyclone Jasper 
Infrastructure Recovery program. With over 15 years of experience in the private 
consulting, local government and not-for-profit sector, Derek brings a broad strategic 
and community-focused approach to his role.

 Prior to joining Council, Derek held senior leadership roles across South Australia, 
including at the City of Norwood, Payneham & St Peters and City of Playford. His expertise 

spans strategic planning, major project delivery, engineering and sustainable urban development.

Derek holds a Bachelor of Civil Engineering and is a respected leader in both government and non-profit sectors, 
including serving as Deputy Chair of the Board for Baptist Care SA, reflecting his commitment to community service 
and leadership.

Derek is playing a pivotal role in leading and empowering teams to positively impact the future of Douglas Shire’s 
built environment, ensuring infrastructure meets the needs of both residents and the region’s unique natural heritage.

Meet the Executive  
Leadership Team
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Infrastructure & Recovery
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2024-2025 Highlights
Council delivered community spaces and supported sport recovery

Douglas Shire Council coordinated several projects to boost community 
wellbeing and support local sport and recreation. A new playground 
was opened at Rex Smeal Park, creating a beautiful outdoor space for 
families and children to enjoy in Port Douglas. Council also partnered 
with the Queensland Government to deliver new lighting at Cassowary 
Park for Douglas United Football Club, enabling evening training and 
competitions for its 150 members. Gymnastics made its comeback, 
with Council providing the Mossman Shire Hall as a temporary home for 
the local club after its facility was damaged by Cyclone Jasper flooding.

Mayor’s Christmas Appeal delivered hampers to 
families in need

Douglas Shire Council coordinated the Mayor’s 
Christmas Appeal to support families facing hardship 
during the festive season. The initiative provided 
Christmas hampers filled with essentials, helping 
vulnerable residents enjoy a more hopeful holiday. 
Council partnered with local organisations including 
Mossman Support Services, Goobidi Bamanga and 
Port Douglas Neighbourhood Centre to distribute 
the hampers. The appeal was also supported by 
Connected Communities and Bendigo Bank, with 
contributions from Port Douglas Kmart and Quicksilver.

Major investment targeted recovery of 
unsealed roads

Douglas Shire Council coordinated a 
significant recovery effort to repair dozens 
of unsealed roads damaged by flooding 
events, including Cyclone Jasper. More 
than $18.9 million in joint funding from the 
Australian and Queensland Governments 
was allocated through the Disaster Recovery 
Funding Arrangements (DRFA). Council 
awarded two major contracts to deliver 
works across the shire, covering areas 
south of the Daintree and extending to 
Cape Tribulation. 

Disaster Management Unit (DMU) – Building resilience  
Post-Cyclone Jasper

In response to Cyclone Jasper, a dedicated Disaster Management 
Unit (DMU) was established to lead recovery efforts and strengthen 
future preparedness. Since its inception, the DMU has:
•	� Secured vital funding to support long-term recovery initiatives
•	� Coordinated creative recovery programs and fostered 

community-led resilience groups
•	 Developed and endorsed a Local Resilience Action Plan
•	� Enhanced emergency technology access for remote communities
•	� Strengthened Douglas Shire Incident Management Team training.

These achievements mark a significant step forward, strengthening 
our links with the community and building a safer, more resilient 
future for our region.
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Report revealed Jasper’s economic toll

A consultant was engaged to assess the economic 
impact of Cyclone Jasper, drawing on regional survey 
data. The report revealed a $56.3 million drop in Gross 
Regional Product, with 100 per cent of businesses 
affected and nearly one-third losing between $100,000 
and $500,000. Tourism expenditure declined by up to 
$105 million, and agricultural losses were estimated at  
$5 million. The findings provided a sobering snapshot of 
the cyclone’s widespread disruption to the local economy.

Honouring heritage and welcoming new citizens

We welcomed new citizens on the Australia Day long 
weekend and honoured our First Nations peoples 
through Reconciliation and NAIDOC events, including 
the Yalanji RAW fun run and walk from Mossman Gorge. 
Council partnered with Yalanji Arts to install 16 vibrant 
banners along Port Douglas Road and Mossman’s Front 
Street. The initiative celebrated First Nations’ creativity in 
the lead-up to Carnivale, National Reconciliation Week 
and NAIDOC Week. 

Mossman monument upgrade for ANZAC Day

Douglas Shire Council partnered with the Mossman 
RSL Sub-Branch to deliver a $150,000 upgrade to 
the Mossman cenotaph in time for ANZAC Day. The 
revered Front Street site was enhanced with a larger 
paved area, a surrounding stone wall, new lighting, and 
landscaping. The improvements created a more inclusive 
and respectful space for the community to honour those 
who served.

Local artists backed to create and inspire

Eight local creatives received a share of $40,000 
through the Regional Arts Development Fund (RADF); 
a partnership between Douglas Shire Council and the 
Queensland Government. The program empowered 
artists to express their connection to place and 
contribute to the region’s cultural landscape.

Strong turnout for Port Douglas Carnivale 

Port Douglas came alive from May 23–25 as the 2025 Carnivale drew over 
10,000 attendees to a vibrant celebration of music, food, and tropical 
culture. The festivities kicked off with the Longest Lunch at Sheraton  
Grand Mirage, where guests enjoyed a culinary journey under the palms. 
The Macrossan Street Parade dazzled with its “Tropical Treasures” theme, 
featuring colourful floats, dancers and costumes. Families flocked to  
Four Mile Beach for sandcastle competitions, beach games and live music, 
while night-time events like the Maho Magic Bar, Temple of Fire and Café 
del Mar brought high-energy entertainment to resorts and public spaces.
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2024-2025 Highlights

Mossman Show Ball returns with our support

A $10,000 community grant from Douglas Shire Council saw 
the Mossman Show Ball return after decades in hiatus. It was 
held at Mossman Shire Hall, boosting morale and reconnecting 
the agricultural community through a night of celebration. The 
grant was part of a broader $38,000 funding round, which also 
supported Douglas United Football Club’s solar installation, Goobidi 
Bamanga’s NAIDOC 50-year celebrations and Douglas Shire 
Community Services Association’s Light Up the Park events.

Corporate Plan adopted

The Douglas Shire Council’s five-year 
Corporate Plan was endorsed. The new 
plan includes Council’s vision, mission and 
values, strategic themes and key areas of 
focus. It provides a set of guiding principles 
and themes which will assist in developing 
policies, strategies, capital work plans, 
operational plans, budgets and initiatives.

Milestones reached in Daintree ferry  
replacement project

Douglas Shire Council progressed key stages of 
the Daintree ferry replacement project, receiving 
tenders for the design, construction, and operation 
of a new, larger-capacity vessel. More than $9 million 
was committed to upgrading surrounding roads and 
infrastructure, including priority lanes and dual exit 
lanes to reduce congestion. A contract for landside 
works was recommended to Durack Civil, marking a 
significant step toward improving access across the 
Daintree River.

Water infrastructure projects improved supply 

Douglas Shire Council delivered a number of water 
infrastructure projects to improve reliability and reduce 
maintenance across the region. These included a 
$700,000 upgrade replacing 1.3km of ageing mains 
in Miallo and Rocky Point, with a new connection to 
Miallo State School. In Port Douglas, a $650,000 project 
connected the new Grant Street water main to the 
Macrossan Street pipeline, enhancing flow to the Flagstaff 
Hill reservoir. Council also awarded a $749,000 contract 
to upgrade the inlet screening facility at the Port Douglas 
Wastewater Treatment Plant, further strengthening the 
region’s water and wastewater systems.
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Arrangements to secure ongoing tenure stability for local 
community organisations

Douglas Shire Council finalised a number of leases over both 
Council-owned freehold land and also reserve land for which 
Council is trustee. 

These tenure arrangements included:
•	� Freehold Lease for Warringu Aboriginal and Torres Strait 

Islanders Corporation for the operation of a domestic 
violence shelter for women

•	� Freehold Lease for 20 years for Port Douglas Community 
Services Network for the continued operation of the 
neighbourhood centre in Mowbray Street, Port Douglas

•	� Trustee Lease for 10 years for Port Douglas Outrigger 
Canoe Club for their facilities at Four Mile Beach Park

•	� Trustee Permit for It’s My Time Fitness for continuation of 
their occupancy at the grandstand facility at Coronation 
Park, Mossman.

More dealings 
are still 
underway for 
various lease 
and other tenure 
types that at the 
time of reporting 
were yet to be 
finalised.

Roadworks progress improved safety across 
Noah and Alexandra Ranges

Douglas Shire Council made significant progress 
on critical roadworks along Cape Tribulation 
Road, including major recovery efforts at 
Noah Range and Alexandra Range. At Noah 
Range, crews undertook complex vegetation 
removal and slope stabilisation, supported 
by temporary safety buffers and coordinated 
access schedules. Meanwhile, 21 of 26 
damaged sections at Alexandra Range were 
repaired. These works, made possible under the 
joint Commonwealth-state Disaster Recovery 
Funding Arrangements (DRFA), improved safety, 
reduced travel times and supported tourism and 
emergency access in the region.

Splash Park construction progressed toward September opening

Construction of the Port Douglas Splash Park advanced steadily, 
with major milestones including concreting and the delivery of play 
features like a jellyfish, crabs and water blasters. The $4.75 million 
project, supported by $2.53 million in Queensland Government 
funding, was on track for a Term 3 school holiday opening. 
Excitement built in the community as the site began to take shape.

Council invested in tourism growth 

Douglas Shire Council endorsed a $1.5 million funding 
agreement with Tourism Port Douglas Daintree (TPDD) 
to support destination marketing, visitor engagement 
and tourism development over three years. As part of its 
broader investment in the visitor economy, Council also 
committed $75,000 annually to support the Port Douglas 
Gran Fondo cycling event from 2025 to 2027.  

Community input 
helped shape future 
waste strategy

Douglas Shire 
Council began 
compiling community 
feedback to inform a 
new Waste Reduction 
and Recycling 
Plan during the 
2024-2025 year. 
The draft plan aimed 
to address current 
waste management 

challenges and set a strategic direction for treating 
waste as a resource. Public consultation was 
launched to ensure the final plan reflects local 
priorities and supports long-term sustainability goals.

Douglas Shire Annual Report 2024-2025 19



Image courtesy Tourism Tropical North Queensland

Adapt 
We adapt to changing circumstances to make a positive  
difference for our community.

Integrity 
We act with integrity, being accountable  
for the decisions we make.

Respect 
We respect our diverse community, cultures and heritage.

Teamwork 
We work as a team.

Community care and support 
We value and actively support each other to deliver for 
our community.

Our Vision 
Working together to enhance our environment, 
lifestyle, culture and community.

Our Mission
Achieving the best outcomes to shape  
tomorrow by working effectively today.

Our Values
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Our Future – the Year Ahead
Although Council’s Annual Report focuses on the 2024-2025 financial year, 
it also provides an opportunity to briefly look forward to the projects and 
initiatives planned for 2025-2026 and beyond. 

The Corporate Plan 2025-2030, adopted by Council in June 2025, identifies four pillars that underpin and influence 
Council’s priorities, direction, decisions and strategy across the life of the Corporate Plan. They are:

Liveability
To deliver community activities to promote safe, healthy, 
inclusive and socially engaged communities with an 
environmental conscious.

Prosperity
Council plans, builds and maintains the infrastructure 
required to improve our lifestyle and promote economic 
growth, working actively to support local businesses.

Service Delivery	
We deliver Council services effectively and efficiently to meet 
community expectations, focusing on the wellbeing of both 
the community and our employees.

Recovery and Resilience
To partner with community to build resilience against natural 
disasters creating a strong sense of social capital.

1

2

3

4
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Liveability1
Key areas of focus
1.1	� Deliver community initiatives that support healthy, inclusive and socially engaged 

communities.
1.2	 Encourage and grow creative opportunities across the arts.
1.3	 Be culturally sensitive, inclusive and improve Council’s cultural competency. 
1.4	 Promote inclusivity, connection and accessibility for individuals/people of all abilities.
1.5	 Keep the community informed.
1.6	� Create and maintain parks and open spaces to preserve, protect and sustain our 

natural assets.
1.7	� Investigate and promote environmental, green, eco-friendly and nature focused 

initiatives.
1.8	 Provide safe, efficient and reliable water and wastewater services.
1.9	� In accordance with Queensland Disaster Management doctrine, continuously review 

and enhance Council’s disaster management prevention, preparedness, response 
and recovery in collaboration with community and agencies. 

Key services dedicated to achievement
•	 Arts and Culture
•	 Aquatic Facilities
•	 Biosecurity
•	 Circular Economy 
•	 Community Engagement
•	 Community Facilities
•	 Community Markets
•	 Disaster Management Unit
•	 Environmental Health
•	 Library Services
•	 Nursery
•	 Open Spaces
•	 Sport and Recreation
•	 Water and Wastewater Services

How can our community assist us
•	 Actively engage with Council
•	 Attend arts and cultural events
•	 Attend festivals
•	 Use community facilities
•	 �Volunteer for a community group such  

as SES
•	 Look out for your neighbours
•	 Reduce waste
•	 Observe water usage
•	� Sign up to the Douglas  

Disaster Dashboard
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Prosperity2
Key areas of focus
2.1	 Deliver a new Daintree ferry.
2.2	 Support local business through local procurement.
2.3	 Advocate for/promote economic growth opportunities and economic transition.
2.4	 Assess developments against the planning scheme.
2.5	 Pursue opportunities to improve housing outcomes.
2.6	 Recognise the contribution of established local industries.
2.7	 Build strong local, State and Federal relations.

Key services dedicated to achievement
•	 Advocacy
•	 Community Development
•	 Community Engagement
•	 Economic Development
•	 Financial Services
•	 Infrastructure
•	 Strategy and Policy
•	 Tourism Development

How can our community assist us
•	 Employ trainees and apprentices
•	 Buy local
•	 Venture into your Shire
•	� Actively engage with  

Council
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Service Delivery3

Key areas of focus
3.1	 Deliver the Corporate Plan, Operational Plan and Budget.
3.2	 Focus on customer service.
3.3	 Focus on safety and wellbeing – of the community and employees.
3.4	� Ensure capital and maintenance programs for infrastructure/open spaces are 

prioritised and delivered on time.
3.5	 Employ a proactive and preventative approach to asset management.
3.6	 Deliver Council services to meet community expectations.
3.7	 Identify and manage risk.
3.8	 Deliver safe and reliable drinking water.
3.9	 Preserve, protect and improve our unique environment.

Key services dedicated to achievement
•	 Community Engagement
•	 Community Service
•	 Construction
•	 Customer Service
•	 Economic Development Strategy
•	 Environment and Planning
•	 Infrastructure
•	 People Safety and Culture
•	 Project Services
•	� Tourism and Economic Development 

Program
•	 Water and Wastewater

How can our community assist us
•	� Register to receive notices and updates 

via email or text 
•	 Actively engage with Council
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Recovery and  
Resilience

4

Key areas of focus
4.1  Support our community’s journey of recovery and rebuilding after natural disasters.
4.2  Deliver infrastructure asset restoration and betterment.
4.3  Foster collaboration, sustainability, and a strong sense of belonging.
4.4  Implement the local recovery and resilience action plan.
4.5  Undertake effective disaster management (planning, preparedness, response, recovery).

Key services dedicated to achievement
•	 Community Engagement
•	 Community Service
•	 Customer Service
•	 Disaster Management Group
•	� Disaster Prevention Preparedness and 

Response
•	 Douglas Dashboard
•	 People Safety and Culture
•	 Recovery Manager

How can our community assist us
•	� Register to receive notices and updates 

via email or text
•	� Keep in touch on social media with 

Douglas Dashboard
•	 Join SES
•	 Volunteer for the community
•	� Actively engage  

with Council
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The Annual Report for a financial year must contain the Chief Executive Officer’s assessment of the local 
government’s progress towards implementing its five-year Corporate Plan and annual Operational Plan.

Assessment of Corporate 
Plan and Operational Plan

Assessment of Operating Performance
For 2024-2025, Council identified a broad range of 
projects that would benefit all communities across 
the Shire and continue to see firm strategic initiatives 
put in place to establish a sound foundation for the 
Shire’s future. 

Council’s Operational Plan 2024-2025 detailed the 
ongoing and recurring activities and major initiatives 
to be undertaken across Council. Success measures 
and timeframes were identified for the delivery of 
each initiative, and in recognising that most projects 
were completed by multidisciplinary teams, the Lead 
Department was also identified. 

The Operational Plan links all projects to the Themes 
and Goals of the Corporate Plan, demonstrating the 
ongoing implementation of Council’s strategic direction.

All programs and projects are fully funded through 
the Annual Budget 2024-2025. As in previous years, 
a public report detailing the progress of the Operational 
Plan was presented to Council each quarter.

In Council’s 2024-2025 Operational Plan, 36 activities 
were identified to progress the completion and 
implementation of the Corporate Plan 2019-2024. 
Council has developed a new Corporate Plan for  
2025-2030.

Theme Outcome Summary

Theme Outcome Completed In 
progress

Cancelled/
no longer 
applicable

Off track, 
plan in 
place

1. �Celebrating our Communities 5

2. �Fostering Sustainable Economic Growth 7 1

3. �Leading Environmental Stewardship 11 1

4. �Inclusive Engagement, Planning and Partnerships 3 2 1

5. �Robust Governance and Efficient Service Delivery 3 1 1

Total 29 2 3 2

 Completed

 In progress

 Cancelled/no longer applicable  

 Off track, plan in place

80.5%

5.6%

8.4%
5.5% Council monitors progress against the Operational Plan 

via written reports and updates presented by the Chief 
Executive Officer to Council meetings at least quarterly.

Council must conduct, resource and fund its operations 
and projects in a way which is consistent with its 
annual Operational Plan, noting that the organisation 
may also move to amend the Operational Plan at any 
time, by Council resolution, to reflect change in the 
environment and in response to current conditions.
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Theme 1: Celebrating Our Communities
Douglas Shire Council embraces the diversity of our communities and values the contribution that all people make to 
the Shire. We recognise that it is a core strength of the region. We acknowledge our past so that it may guide us into the 
future. We recognise the wrongs done to our Indigenous community and we actively seek to reconcile so that we may 
all benefit from and enjoy our Shire. We acknowledge early European settlers who forged an agricultural base for our 
economy, and we welcome all new arrivals as part of our broader community. 

Goal 1 We will celebrate the diversity of our community and ensure that all infrastructure programs and services are 
underpinned with inclusiveness and accessibility.

Goal 2 We will deliver programs and services that protect and enhance the liveability of our beautiful Shire.

Goal 3 We will develop programs that promote health, well-being, and safety in the community.

Goal 4 We will promote arts and culture programs and events that bring vibrancy to the community and compliment the tourist 
experience.

Goal 1: We will celebrate the diversity of our community and ensure that all infrastructure, programs, and services are 
underpinned with inclusiveness and accessibility.

Operational Plan 
Initiative

Description Target Status Updates

1.1.1 Reconciliation 
Action Plan

Develop and implement a 
Reconciliation Action Plan.

Reconciliation 
Action Plan 
finalised and 
adopted.

Completed Significant work completed 
in the 2024-2025 year and 
first steps of the initiative 
is completed. Consultancy 
engaged to assist in the 
finalisation of Reflect RAP. New 
finalisation initiative is in the 
2025/2026 Operational Plan.

1.1.2 Public Art & 
Placemaking

Support creative projects 
and initiatives that empower 
our communities to express 
their connection to place.

Develop and 
deliver public art 
and placemaking 
initiatives that are 
community led.

Completed Council-initiated public art 
project delivered through 
RADF, includes the completion 
of the Mosaic and Ceramic 
installation Front Street, 
Mossman.

Yalanji Artist Banners (16) 
completed and presented, 
Front Street Mossman and Port 
Douglas Rd, Port Douglas.

1.1.3 Regional Arts 
Development 
Fund (RADF)

Review and improve the 
RADF program to address 
issues of inclusivity and 
accessibility.

The RADF program 
includes creatives 
from a wider range 
of arts, abilities, 
audiences, and 
target markets in 
the Douglas Shire.

Completed The RADF program is in a 
continuous improvement model 
of operation. 

Issues of diversity and 
accessibility have been 
addressed in future funding 
rounds.

Goal 2: We will deliver programs and services that protect and enhance the liveability of our beautiful Shire.

Operational Plan 
Initiative

Description Target Status Updates

1.2.1 Update the 
Douglas 
Local Disaster 
Management Plan

Update the Douglas Local 
Disaster Management Plan 
(LDMP) with a focused Risk 
Assessment.

The LDMP is 
updated after risk 
assessments are 
completed.

Completed LDMP updated and adopted by 
Council in November. Work is 
now proceeding on sub-plans 
in preparation for 2025-2026.
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Goal 3: We will develop programs that promote health, well-being, and safety in the community.

Operational Plan 
Initiative

Description Target Status Updates

1.3.1 Creative 
Recovery: healing 
communities and 
building resilience 
through creative 
engagement

Embed Creative Recovery 
as an initiative resilience 
building to facilitate healing, 
wellbeing, address loss 
of connection and trauma 
experienced through 
disasters.

Facilitate Creative 
Recovery 
Workshops.

Facilitate activities 
from the federally 
funded Tri Shire 
Creative Recovery 
Program.

Completed Creative Recovery workshops 
facilitated. Activities include; 
creation of a mural at 
Mossman Showgrounds, 
free circus workshops and 
activities through Kuku Bakal 
Kaykayanda – Giving voice 
to children project. Creative 
Recovery Training delivered to 
20+ local community service 
workers, arts practitioners, and 
cultural workers.

Goal 4: We will promote arts and culture programs and events that bring vibrancy to the community and compliment the 
tourist experience.

Operational Plan 
Initiative

Description Target Status Updates

No initiatives identified for 2024-2025.

Outcomes
Public Art & Placemaking

	 •	� Mosaic and Ceramic installation Front Street, Mossman Council-initiated public art project delivered through 
Regional Arts Development Fund (RADF).

	 •	� Yalanji Artist Banners (16) completed and presented, Front Street Mossman and Port Douglas Road, 
Port Douglas.

	 •	� Local Disaster Management Plan adopted by Council in November 2024.
	 •	� Creative Recovery – healing communities and building resilience through creative engagement.
	 •	� Creative Recovery Training delivered to 20+ local community service workers, arts practitioners,  

and cultural workers.
	 •	� Assistance in the delivery of the Queensland Mental Health and Wellbeing Grants (auspice through 

Jabalbina Yalanji Aboriginal Corporation) awarded.
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Theme 2: Fostering Sustainable Economic Growth 
A robust economy is at the heart of a thriving community and enables investment in environmental protection. While 
our remoteness is a key attribute, it also presents challenges for attracting new business and investment. We must also 
meet the challenges of fierce competition in the tourism sector. Council will partner with industry to build, diversify and 
promote the Douglas economy. Council will design and deliver infrastructure, strategies and services that support the 
local economy and businesses. 

Goal 1 We will build appropriate infrastructure and deliver services that connect and support businesses.

Goal 2 We will work with partners to promote the Shire as the World’s leading sustainable tropical destination and encourage 
business investment.

Goal 3 We will develop strategies that seek to diversify the Shire’s economic base.

Goal 1: We will build appropriate infrastructure and deliver services that connect and support businesses.

Operational Plan 
Initiative

Description Target Status Updates

2.1.1 Economic Impact 
Analysis of TC 
Jasper

Undertake economic impact 
analysis of TC Jasper on 
the Douglas Shire economy 
to help support further 
advocacy activities and/or 
resilience planning.

Economic Impact 
Analysis complete.

Completed Completed March 2025, and 
data being used to support 
development of funding and 
support activities.

Endorsed by Council June 25

2.1.2 Communications 
Plan for future 
disaster events

Apply key learnings 
identified through TC 
Jasper recovery planning to 
develop a communications 
action plan for businesses 
as part of the early response 
stage in the event of future 
natural disasters.

Communications 
Plan complete.

Completed With the end of the cyclone 
season approaching, disaster 
communications will wind 
down. A review of the plan 
will be conducted, with key 
learnings noted, and ready for 
the 25/26 season. 

2.1.3 Progress a 
purpose-built 
Local Disaster 
Coordination 
Centre

Continue efforts to secure 
grant funding for the 
construction of a functional, 
safe, and purpose-built 
Multi-Purpose and Local 
Disaster Coordination 
Centre (LDCC).

Submit funding 
applications to 
relevant grant 
funding bodies and 
continue lobbying 
for funds for this 
project.

Completed A Disaster Co-ordination, 
Community Recovery and 
Resilience Centre Funding 
Proposal has been developed. 
New opportunities to obtain 
funding are being sought. 
Lobbying of the Leichhardt 
Federal election candidates 
was unsuccessful.  

2.1.4 Council building 
audit for disaster 
preparedness

Improve the capacity of 
Council assets to function 
during and after disaster 
events.

Undertake a risk 
audit of essential 
Council owned and 
operated buildings 
for exposure to 
flood damage.

Review the Building 
Evacuation 
Register – to 
gain access to 
facilities and put 
arrangements in 
place with external 
property Owners/
Managers.

Completed Funding of audit and works 
has been approved under the 
North Queensland Resilience 
Program and this work will be 
progressed through 2025-
2026. Works to improve the 
use of the Daintree Village Hall 
as a place of refuge/recovery 
centre site have been awarded 
in Quarter 4.

2.1.5 Daintree Ferry – 
Replacement

Progress the design 
and approvals for a new 
Daintree Ferry.

Ferry ownership/
operating model 
finalised.

Ferry design and 
construct tender 
closed and being 
evaluated.

Completed Ferry ownership/operating 
model finalised.

Landside Project Contract sent 
to successful Civil Contractor 
for signing.

Ferry design, build and operate 
service tender offers being 
evaluated.
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2.1.6 Port Douglas 
Splash Park

Provide a fun for families 
to cool down and enjoy the 
outdoor activities together.

To build and 
operate a Splash 
Park located in Port 
Douglas.

In progress Construction will be completed 
end of August and Grand 
Opening held during 
September school holidays.    
Delivery of Splash Park is item 
1.1.1 in Operational Plan 2025-
2026

2.1.7 Continue to 
support and 
partner with the 
State for the 
development 
of the Wangetti 
Trail as this is a 
State Government 
project

Finalise infrastructure 
requirements, preferred 
route, and land tenure for 
the Mowbray North section.

Partner with State 
Government to 
deliver Phase 1 and 
2 of the Wangetti 
Trail.

Completed Council waiting on updates 
from DETSI regarding the 
proposed alignment to link 
the Mowbray River bridge into 
Port Douglas.  Project now 
identified in TEQ’s Destination 
2045 plan.

Goal 2: We will work with partners to promote the Shire as the World’s leading sustainable tropical destination and 
encourage business investment.

Operational Plan 
Initiative

Description Target Status Updates

2.2.1 Audit for Eco 
Destination 
Certification

Participate in an on-
site independent audit 
to maintain the Shire’s 
current Eco Destination 
Certification.

Undertake an 
independent audit 
to maintain our 
current certification.

Completed On-site audit completed 
in December. Final report 
received and response in 
progress. Council has until 
30 June 2025 to respond to 
corrective actions. 

Goal 3: We will develop strategies that seek to diversify the Shire’s economic base.

Operational Plan 
Initiative

Description Target Status Updates

No initiatives identified for 2024-2025.
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Theme 3: Leading Environmental Stewardship
Our visitors and residents deeply value the unparalleled environment in which we live. We recognise our responsibility 
in protecting and preserving our natural world for generations to come. We understand the strong link between 
the environment and the economy: they are interdependent. Douglas Shire will be at the forefront of environmental 
protection by developing strategies, setting policies, and working with all stakeholders to become the envy of and to 
inspire locations across Australia and the World. 

Goal 1 We will protect our sensitive environment and plan for the impact of climate change.

Goal 2 We will implement programs that reduce and offset our environmental footprint.

Goal 3 We will continue to build water infrastructure so that the Douglas Shire may enjoy water security and water quality.

Goal 4 We will partner with the community to educate and monitor.

Goal 5 We will recognise the contribution that Traditional Owners make to the protection of the environment.

Goal 1: We will protect our sensitive environment and plan for the impact of climate change.

Operational 
Plan Initiative

Description Target Status Updates

3.1.1 Sustainable 
Waste 
Management at 
Events

Encourage sustainable 
practices at events, 
including supporting the 
culture of BYO reusables 
and provision of recycling 
bins where they are 
unavailable commercially.

Engagement with 
event organisers 
to encourage 
sustainable 
waste 
management at 
events.

Completed Assistance is available for events 
and is included in Prescribed 
Activity.

Applications to ensure organisers 
are aware the service is available.

Recent events Council has been 
involved in such as Carnivale utilised 
sustainable waste management 
practices. This is an ongoing BAU 
program.

3.1.2 Plastic Free 
Places

Continue to participate in 
the Plastic Free Cairns and 
Douglas Program, managed 
by Boomerang Alliance, 
which assists businesses 
to reduce or eliminate 
single-use plastic items 
from their supply chain. 
This includes a “Choose to 
Reuse” Program funded by 
the State Government.

Implementation 
of the new pilot 
program “Choose 
to Reuse”.

Completed The Douglas Chooses to Reuse 
pilot program launched in June 
2025. Early success indicates the 
community will embrace the circular 
economy initiative long term.

This is an ongoing BAU program for 
2025-2026.
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Goal 2: We will implement programs that reduce and offset our environmental footprint.

Operational 
Plan Initiative

Description Target Status Updates

3.2.1 TC Jasper 
Environmental 
Waste Removal

Continue damage 
assessments and address 
environmental waste and 
damage.

Complete 
removal of 
environmental 
waste particularly 
evident in the 
Degarra area and 
the Bloomfield 
Valley.

Completed Waterway clean ups – submission 
in with Queensland Reconstruction 
Authority (QRA) for funding for 
Bloomfield, Daintree and Mossman 
Rivers under the Disaster Relief 
Funding Arrangements (DRFA) CAT 
D 2023-24 Clean up Grant.

Submission in with QRA for funding 
for additional waste removal in 
Degarra, China Camp and Upper 
Daintree.

The above submissions are currently 
under review by QRA for final 
approval.

A second submission to the 
Department of Environment for DRFA 
Environmental Recovery Package- 
coastal recovery works for Newell 
Beach and northern Oak Beach 
coastal erosion rehabilitation has 
been submitted.

Ongoing work for the 2025/2026 year.

3.2.2 Degarra Pest 
Program

Develop a program for the 
prevention and spread of 
weeds and pests around the 
Degarra area.

Program has 
been developed, 
implemented 
and progress 
monitored 
effectively.

Cancelled/ 
no longer 
applicable

Degarra is covered by the 
Douglas Biosecurity Management 
Plan 2022-2026. A site-specific 
Biosecurity Management plan for 
the localised area of Degarra is not 
required as all works should be 
conducted in alignment with DSC’s 
current management plan and 
the Biosecurity Act 2014 General 
Biosecurity Obligations.

3.2.3 Deliver on Actions listed in 
the Action Plan.

Deliver on 
actions listed 
in the Action 
Plan. Continue 
progressing RGC 
grant funded 
projects until 
March 2026 end 
date.

Completed We continue to deliver on actions 
listed in our action plan including 
waste education and calculating 
Council’s 2022/23 greenhouse gas 
inventory. Continued progress of 
the four (4) Reef Guardian Council 
Program funded projects:

• �continuation of the feral pig 
trapping program,

• �Pre Erosion and Sediment Control 
program site visits and audit report.

• �Completed On-site Wastewater 
Treatment System funded project.

Ongoing work for the 2025/2026 year.

3.2.4 Illegal dumping 
program

Continue the illegal 
dumping program through 
a combination of education, 
investigation, and 
enforcement. 

Update the 
Illegal Dumping 
Strategy with the 
aim of moving 
towards a 
circular waste 
economy.

In progress The illegal dumping program 
continues to target illegal dumping 
and littering across the Shire. 
Work continues on the grant for 
education and behaviour change 
interventions to reduce littering and 
illegal dumping in hot spot locations. 
Illegal dumping has been further 
incorporated into strategic and 
educational waste plans.

3.2.5 Update 
Council’s 
Waste 
Reduction Plan

Update Council’s 
Waste Reduction and 
Recycling Plan to align 
with Queensland’s Waste 
Strategy, reducing waste 
to landfill and increasing 
resource recovery.

Council’s Waste 
Reduction and 
Recycling Plan is 
updated.

In progress Council’s DRAFT Waste Reduction 
and Recycling Plan 2025 –2030 was 
developed in April and approved 
for community consultation in June. 
Community consultation will continue 
until late July. The Plan will be 
endorsed in Q1 of 25/26.
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Goal 3: We will continue to build water infrastructure so that the Douglas Shire may enjoy water security and water quality.

Operational 
Plan Initiative

Description Target Status Updates

3.3.1 Water Security 
Upgrades

Continue improvements to 
the water supply network to 
improve water security.

Improve network 
monitoring 
and pressure 
management.

In progress Pilot trial phase has been completed 
in the Port Douglas area. Network 
leak detection program is being 
finalised. Project for supply and 
installation of replacement meters 
and pressure monitoring devices has 
gone to market for delivery. 

3.3.2 Mossman River 
Intake

Part of the Douglas Shire 
water security strategy. 
Progress the intake as a 
matter of urgency to avoid 
Rex Creek water license 
exceedance by 2025-2026.

Progress second 
water intake for 
Mossman.

Continue to 
implement water 
intake resilience 
planning and 
upgrades to 
improve water 
security and 
quality for the 
community.

In progress Basis of design workshop 
completed, and procurement 
strategy confirmed with key 
stakeholders.

Water extraction licence submitted 
and collaborating with Department 
of Local Government and Water and 
Volunteers on approval process.

Goal 4: We will partner with the community to educate and monitor.

Operational 
Plan Initiative

Description Target Status Updates

3.4.1 Waste 
Education

Implementation of Council’s 
Waste Education Plan for 
schools, businesses and 
community groups.

Continue to 
implement 
Council’s waste 
education 
program 
to increase 
recycling 
rates, reduce 
contamination 
and reduce 
waste to landfill.

Completed Council’s Resource Recovery 
Officer continues to undertake waste 
education to schools, businesses 
and community groups who request 
it. 

The Waste Education and Behaviour 
Change Plan for 25/26 has been 
developed for implementation.

3.4.2 Water 
Education

Part of the Douglas Shire 
water security. Continuation 
/ development of the 
water education program 
and resources to support 
messaging for the Douglas 
Shire water security 
strategy.

Implement 
a water 
sustainability 
education 
program to 
inform the 
community, 
particularly 
school children, 
of the water 
cycle and how 
everyone utilises 
water and the 
impacts on the 
Reef from our 
water choices.

Completed Council’s water education program 
is progressing with facility based 
primary school education sessions 
planned for May and September. 

Implementing updates to our 
website infrastructure to enhance 
accessibility features and optimise 
user experiences related to 
educational resources.

3.4.3 Eco-Creativity 
& Sustainability

Develop a strategy for arts 
and culture that embeds 
eco-creativity as a key 
pillar for creative events, 
initiatives and activities for 
the shire.

Strategy 
complete and 
adopted by 
Council.

Completed Eco-Creativity and Sustainability 
has been adopted by Council as a 
locally identified priority for the RADF 
Program.

Eco-Creativity and Sustainability has 
been embedded in the DRAFT Arts 
Strategy.

Goal 5: We will recognise the contribution that Traditional Owners make to the protection of the environment.

Operational 
Plan Initiative

Description Target Status Updates

No initiatives identified for 2024-2025.
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Theme 4: Inclusive Engagement Planning and Partnerships 
In delivering for our communities, economy and environment, Council will ensure open and transparent engagement 
and communication. We will develop robust strategic plans and we will partner with our community and key 
stakeholders.

Goal 1 We will implement transparent decision-making through inclusive community engagement and communication.

Goal 2 We will develop forward-looking strategies for the future of our communities, and we will ensure balanced and 
appropriate planning decisions.

Goal 3 We will recognise the critical role that our partners play in planning and delivering vital programs and services.

Goal 4 We will partner with the community to educate and monitor.

Goal 1: We will implement transparent decision-making through inclusive community engagement and communication.

Operational Plan 
Initiative

Description Target Status Updates

4.1.1 Repairs to roads 
from TC Jasper

Prepare and submit 
Restoration of Essential 
Public Assets (REPA) 
submissions to QRA.

Restoration of Essential 
Public Assets (REPA) 
has commenced for both 
Council and TMR.

Complete 16 REPA 
submissions totalling 
$139million have 
been approved. 
7 contracts have 
been awarded 
and construction 
commenced.

6 sites on Alexandra 
Range have been 
completed.

4.1.2 Planning Scheme 
Amendments to 
align the Scheme 
with the Planning 
Act 2016 and 
improve the 
functionality of the 
Scheme

Planning Scheme 
Amendments to align the 
Scheme with the Planning 
Act 2016 and improve the 
functionality of the Scheme.

Planning Scheme 
amendments drafted and 
submitted for State Interest 
Review.

Complete Meeting held 
with the planning 
consultant firm to 
revisit the scheme 
amendments and 
key areas of focus.

The State has also 
released funding 
opportunities to 
assist Council’s 
with scheme 
amendments 
which targets 
housing supply 
considerations.

4.1.3             Develop a five year 
communications 
strategy

This plan will focus on 
how Council can improve 
communications across the 
organisation and through 
digital channels.  It includes 
the My Douglas initiative 
that will improve Council's 
website.

Strategy completed. Cancelled/ 
no longer 
applicable

A comprehensive 
crisis 
communications 
plan has been 
developed and is 
nearing completion.       
Minor changes 
have been made 
to the website to 
improve the user 
experience with 
future improvements 
being explored.
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Goal 2: We will recognise the critical role that our partners play in planning and delivering vital programs and services.

Operational Plan 
Initiative

Description Target Status Updates

4.2.1 Develop a Five-
Year Strategy for 
Arts, Culture and 
Creativity 2024-2029

This strategy will underscore 
the objectives of the 
Corporate Plan; align to the 
Economic Development, 
Tourism & Events, and 
Heritage Strategies; support 
the Reconciliation Action 
Plan; and align to State 
Governments objectives for 
arts and culture.

Strategy is drafted and 
adopted by Council.

Cancelled/ 
no longer 
applicable

The 2024-2025 year 
focus has been on 
Creative Recovery 
and working on 
programs that 
support mental 
health through the 
arts. With recovery 
ongoing, it has 
been determined 
that a shorter-term 
arts program be 
developed for 
implementation over 
the next 2 years, 
which has been 
included in the 2025-
2026 Operational 
Plan.

Goal 3: We will recognise the critical role that our partners play in planning and delivering vital programs and services.

Operational Plan 
Initiative

Description Target Status Updates

4.3.1 Local Housing 
Action Plan

Further develop Local 
Housing Action Plan.

Continue advocacy for 
more affordable housing.

Completed LHAP adopted by 
Council

4.3.2 Community 
Strategic Plans

Create a timeline for the 
development of Community 
Strategic Plans for Port 
Douglas, Mossman and the 
Daintree Community.

A plan outlining the time 
frames for the development 
of Community Strategic 
Plans is endorsed by 
Council.

Off track, 
plan in 
place

Community Strategic 
Plans on hold until 
a full review of 
Council’s existing 
strategies and plans 
is undertaken as 
per item 1.5.2 of the 
Operational Plan 
2025-2026.

Goal 4: We will partner with the community to educate and monitor.

Operational Plan 
Initiative

Description Target Status Updates

No initiatives identified for 2024-2025.
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Theme 5: Robust Governance and Efficient Service Delivery 
Strong governance and financial management are the foundations of the way in which Council will conduct its business 
and implement the initiatives of the Corporate Plan. 

Goal 1 We will conduct Council business in an open and transparent manner with strong oversight and open reporting.

Goal 2 We will put the customer at the centre of our service delivery and process Improvement as we deliver efficient and 
appropriate services based on community expectations.

Goal 3 We will recognise the critical role that our partners play in planning and delivering vital programs and services.

Goal 4 We will work with our communities to ensure they are informed, empowered and supported so that they are resilient to 
the impacts of disaster events.

Goal 1: We will conduct Council business in an open and transparent manner with strong oversight and open reporting.

Operational Plan 
Initiative

Description Target Status Updates

No initiatives identified for 2024-2025. Governance objectives for the Corporate Plan have been achieved.

Goal 2: We will put the customer at the centre of our service delivery and process improvement as we deliver efficient and 
appropriate services based on community expectations.

Operational Plan 
Initiative

Description Target Status Updates

5.2.1 Level of Service 
Register

Create a timeline for the 
development of a register 
that lists the level of service 
for activities conducted by 
Council.

A plan outlining 
the time frame for 
the development 
of the register 
is endorsed by 
Council.

Off track, 
plan in 
place

Working with Senior 
Leadership Team to develop 
register. 

Goal 3: We will recognise the critical role that our partners play in planning and delivering vital programs and services.

Operational Plan 
Initiative

Description Target Status Updates

5.3.1 Commence 
new certified 
agreement 
discussions 

Negotiations for new 
certified agreement to begin 
in November 2024.

Implement a 
new Certified 
Agreement for 
Council.

Completed MOU signed by all parties 
for current agreement to 
extend to November 2025 
with bargaining to begin in 
May 2025.

Goal 4: We will work with our communities to ensure they are informed, empowered and supported so that they are 
resilient to the impacts of disaster events.

Operational Plan 
Initiative

Description Target Status Updates

5.4.1 Commence 
new certified 
agreement 
discussions 

Negotiations for new 
certified agreement to begin 
in November 2024.

Implement a 
new Certified 
Agreement for 
Council.

Completed MOU signed by all parties 
for current agreement to 
extend to November 2025 
with bargaining to begin in 
May 2025.

5.4.2 Community 
Disaster 
Resilience 
Reserve

Investigate the 
establishment of a 
Community Disaster 
Resilience Reserve.

Seek grant funding 
to establish a 
storage space and 
relevant supplies.

Liaise with the 
Queensland 
Evacuation 
Facilities Working 
Group.

Completed Grant funding sourced and 
this work is programmed under 
North Queensland Resilience 
Program funding. Funding has 
been approved, and the works 
are being scoped for delivery, 
following public consultation 
through 2025/26.

Community engagement 
meetings were held throughout 
the Shire in late June 2025.
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5.4.3 Update Douglas 
Resilience 
Strategy

Update the Douglas 
Resilience Strategy to 
prepare for future impacts 
of disaster events.

Update the 
Douglas Disaster 
Resilience Strategy 
and scorecards.

Delivery of 
community 
education and 
awareness 
programs 
to increase 
community 
preparedness.

In progress Douglas Shire Resilience 
Strategy funding has been 
approved. Update of 
Douglas Disaster Resilience 
Strategy and scorecards has 
commenced with these to 
be finalised in Q2 2025-26. 
Community engagement and 
awareness meetings were 
held throughout the Shire in 
late June 2025 and information 
gathered during the meetings 
will contribute to the 
development of preparedness 
planning and education.

5.4.4 Bloomfield Valley 
Plan

Collaborate with 
neighbouring Councils to 
strengthen FNQ cross-
border relations.

Continue 
development of a 
Bloomfield Valley 
plan.

Completed Meetings have been held with 
Cook, Wujal Wujal and the 
Queensland Reconstruction 
Authority (QRA) on the 
progression of the Bloomfield 
Valley Catchment Flood Risk 
Management program. This is 
a $7.73M program funded and 
led by the QRA. 

A flood study on the Degarra 
area has been completed 
and the peer review is now 
completed. 

A Memorandum of 
Understanding has been 
developed for Regional 
Collaboration on Disaster 
Management between 
Douglas, Cook, Wujal Wujal 
and Hopevale councils. 

Council officers and the 
Department of Housing Local 
Government, Planning and 
Public Works have developed 
a Business Continuity Plan for 
Emergency Accommodation 
in Degarra whilst this remains 
in use. 

Community consultation with 
residents in the Degarra area 
and with neighbouring councils 
will continue to ensure there is 
an understanding of hazards, 
planning, preparedness, 
response and recovery when a 
disaster occurs.  
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Workforce Profile 
Employee Statistics FY 2024-2025

Female Male

Employee Gender 103 122

Ethnicity

  Aboriginal

  Aboriginal/Torres Strait Islander

  Not Disclosed

2

2

99

8

6

108

Disability 1 1

English as a second language 4 1

Age Profile

  <25

  25-34

  35-44

  45-54

  55-64

  >65

4

13

22

31

23

3

3

17

26

49

27

5

Think you have what it takes to work for Council? 
Douglas Shire Council provides the opportunity to be part of an organisation with an 
energetic and collaborative approach and a commitment to meeting the expectations of 
customers and the communities of Douglas.

To find out more, visit: douglas.qld.gov.au/council-information/employment-at-council/

Tenure Number of Staff

0-5 Years 132

5-10 Years 44

10-15 Years 18

15-20 Years 16

20-25 Years 21

25-30 Years 5

30+ Years 1

Work Health and Safety Statement 
Council’s Workplace Health and Safety team has a 
strong commitment to ensuring its workplaces are safe, 
and that the organisation has a proactive safety culture.

Over the last 12 months, our safety management system 
has continued to improve, focusing on streamlined 
safety processes to mitigate health and safety risks, 
manage our incidents effectively, and develop 
prevention programs.

The organisation has also undertaken a significant 
review of its position on staff well being and maintaining 
positive psycho-social health in the workplace. 

Additionally, Council undertook initiatives to identify 
psychosocial hazards in our workplaces and ensure 
that we have strategies in place to support work groups 
at higher risk, as well as individuals.
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This section of the report contains information which is prescribed by the Local Government Act 2009 and 
Local Government Regulation 2012 to be disclosed in Council’s Annual Report for the period.

Statutory Information

Local Government Act 2009
Section 41 Identifying Beneficial 
Enterprises
Section 41 of the Local Government Act 2009 provides 
that the Annual Report must contain a list of all the 
beneficial enterprises that the local government 
conducted during the financial year.

Douglas Shire Council did not conduct any beneficial 
enterprises within the 2024-25 financial year.

Section 45(b) Identifying Business 
Activities
Section 45(a) of the Local Government Act 2009 
provides that the Annual Report must contain a list of 
all the business activities that the local government 
conducted during the financial year.

The business activities conducted during 2024-25:

	 •	 Water and Sewer
	 •	 Waste
	 •	 Ferry operations
	 •	 Caravan parks
	 •	 Markets
	 •	 Planning Certifications

Section 45(b) of the Local Government Act 2009 
provides that the Annual Report must identify the 
business activities that are significant business 
activities. None of the above activities satisfied the 
statutory threshold for classification as a significant 
business activity.

Section 45(c) Competitive Neutrality 
principle
Section 45(c) of the Local Government Act 2009 
provides that the Annual Report must state whether or 
not the competitive neutrality principle was applied to 
the significant business activities, and if the principle 
was not applied, the reason why it was not applied.

The competitive neutrality principle was not applied, 
since Council does not have any significant business 
activities.

Section 201 Remuneration Payable to 
Senior Contract Employees
Section 201(1)(a) of the Local Government Act 2009 
provides that the Annual Report must state the total 
of all remuneration packages that are payable to the 
senior management of the local government. The senior 
management, of a local government, consists of 
the Chief Executive Officer and all senior executive 
employees. The remuneration packages include 
base salary, superannuation and allowances as at 
30 June 2025.

Total of all Remuneration Packages Payable $724,195.

Band Number of Senior 
Management

$100,000 - $200,000 0

$200,000 - $300,000 3

Local Government Regulation 2012
Section 183 Financial Statements
The general-purpose financial statement for the 
financial year 2024-2025 are located on pages 55-92 
of this report. 

The current-year financial sustainability statement for 
the financial year 2024-2025 is shown on page 88.

The long-term financial sustainability statement for the 
financial year 2024-2025 is on page 89.

The Auditor-General’s audit reports about the general-
purpose financial statement and the current year 
financial sustainability statement is shown on pages 
85-91.

Section 184 Community Financial 
Report 
The Community Financial Report  for the financial year is 
shown on page 48.
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Section 185 Particular Resolutions
Section 185(a) of the Local Government Regulation 
2012 (LGR) provides that the Annual Report must 
contain a copy of the resolutions made during the 
financial year under s 250(1) of the LGR (adoption of an 
expenses reimbursement policy).

Section 185(b) of the Local Government Regulation 
2012 provides that the Annual Report must contain a list 
of any resolutions made during the financial year under 
s 206(2) of the LGR (threshold for non-current physical 
asset to be treated as an expense). There were no 
particular resolutions for the financial year 2024-2025. 

Section 186 Councillors  
The Annual Report must contain particulars of 
Councillors such as total remuneration, superannuation, 
expenses, facilities provided, meetings attended and 
total orders during the financial year.

Section 186(1)(a) Councillor 
Remuneration
The amount of remuneration paid to Local Government 
Councillors is determined by the Local Government 
Remuneration Commission (the Commission). 

The Commission has determined that Douglas Shire 
Council is a Category 1 Council and the following 
annual remuneration amounts applied to Category 1 
Councils during the period 1 July 2024 to 30 June 2025. 

The total remuneration paid to each Councillor and 
the total superannuation contribution paid on behalf 
of each Councillor during the period 1 July 2024 to 
30 June 2025 is:

Mayor Deputy Mayor Councillors 

$124,157 $71,629 $62,078 x 3 

Councillor Remuneration 
Superannuation
2024-2025 Financial Year	

Councillor Remuneration Superannuation

A F Noli 61,587 7,090

D G Meadows 61,586 7,084

L J Scomazzon 121,005 14,522

M J Rees 61,586 7,095

R C Zammataro 69,810 8,038

Grand Total 375,573 43,828

Section 186(1)(b) Councillor Expenses
A Councillor Expenses Reimbursement Policy was adopted by Council on 30 June 2020 and is due for review in 
2025/2026.   

The policy provides for the reimbursement of reasonable expenses incurred by Councillors, when discharging their 
duties and responsibilities as Councillors, and the provision of facilities necessary to undertake their roles.

The table shows the expenses incurred by Councillors in the 2024-2025 financial year.

Mayor Lisa 
Scomazzon

Councillor Roy 
Zammataro

Councillor 
Abigail Noli

Councillor 
Damian  
Meadows

Councillor 
Michael Rees

 Total

Accommodation 5,923 1,050 496 2,545 1,428 11,443

Conference 4,654 1,255 1,586 3,759 2,850 14,104

Meals/hospitality 910 74 46 91 160 1,282

Office 242 242

Telecoms 602 602 602 602 602 3,012

Travel 3,439 812 146 609 641 5,647

Vehicle 360 930 1,289

Grand Total 15,770 4,153 3,807 7,606 5,682 37,018

In addition to the above, Mayor Lisa Scomazzon’s FBT expense for the FBT year ending 31 March 2025 was $6410.06. 

All Councillors were provided refreshments at Council workshops and meetings.
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Section 186(1)(c) Councillor Meeting Attendance
As required under s 186(1)(c) of the LGR, the table below details the number of Local Government Meetings each 
Councillor attended during the 2024-25 financial year.

Councillor Ordinary Meetings Special Meetings Statutory Meeting Special Budget 
Meeting

Mayor Lisa Scomazzon 12 2 0 0

Councillor Roy Zammataro 12 2 0 0

Councillor Abigail Noli 12 2 0 0

Councillor Damian Meadows 12 2 0 0

Councillor Michael Rees 12 2 0 0

Section 186(1)(d)-(k) Councillor Conduct
The Local Government Act 2009 sets out the roles, responsibilities, and obligations of Councillors. Complaints about the 
conduct of Councillors are to be made, or referred, to the Independent Assessor for investigation. 

In accordance with s 186(1)(d) to (k) of the LGR, Councillor conduct complaints, referrals, notices, decisions, orders 
and recommendations during the financial year are shown in the tables below:

Number of Councillor Conduct Tribunal

Subsection of the Local 
Government Act 2009

Description Number

150I(2) Orders made about unsuitable meeting conduct 0

150IA(2)(b) Orders made about unsuitable meeting conduct of chairperson 0

150AH(1) Orders made for inappropriate conduct 0

150AR(1) Decision, orders and recommendations made for misconduct 0

Number of Councillor Conduct Complaints, Notices and Referrals

Subsection of the Local 
Government Act 2009 

Description Number

150P(2)(a) Complaints referred to the Assessor by a local government, a councillor or the Chief 
Executive Officer of the local government

0

150P(3) Matters referred to the Crime and Corruption Commission by the local government 0

150R(2) Notices given by a local government official to the Assessor about a councillor’s 
conduct

0

150S(2)(a) Notices of misconduct given to the Assessor by the local government 0

150AF(3)(a) Occasions information was given to the Assessor for a preliminary assessment 
under division 3A

0

Chapter 5A, part 3, division 5 Occasions the local government asked another entity to investigate the suspected 
conduct of a councillor

0

Chapter 5A, part 3, division 6 Applications heard by the conduct tribunal about whether a councillor engaged in 
misconduct or a conduct breach

0

150AC(1) The total number of referral notices given to the local government 0

150AEA For suspected conduct breaches the subject of a referral notice mentioned in s 
186(1)(g) 
• the total number of suspected conduct breaches; and
• �the total number of suspected breaches for which an investigation was not started 

or was discontinued under section 150AEA of the LGA

0

150AG(1) The number of decisions about a conduct breach made by the local government 0

150AG(1) The number of matters about a conduct breach not decided by the end of the 
financial year

0

150AG(1) The average time taken by the local government in making a decision about a 
conduct breach

0

There were no complaints recorded against Councillors in the 2024-2025 financial year. 

Douglas Shire Annual Report 2024-202542



Section 188 Overseas Travel
The Annual Report must contain information about 
any overseas travel made by a Councillor or Local 
Government employee in an official capacity.

No overseas travel was undertaken by a Councillor or 
Council employee in an official capacity during the 2024-
2025 financial year.

Section 189(2) Councillor Discretionary 
Funds
	 •	� Councillors are not provided with discretionary 

funds enable them to allocate budget. 
	 •	� Funding was not therefore provided to community 

organisations from this source.
	 •	 There is nothing to report. 

Section 187 Administrative Action 
Complaints 
Council respects the right of individuals to lodge 
a complaint about Council and its agents and is 
committed to managing complaints fairly, objectively, 
professionally, respectfully and, subject to any legal 
requirements, in confidence.

Under the Local Government Act 2009, issues that are 
within the scope of Administrative Action Complaints 
about the Council include:

	 •	� a decision, or a failure to make a decision, 
including a failure to provide a written statement of 
reasons for a decision,

	 •	 an act, or a failure to act,
	 •	 the formulation of a proposal or intention, or
	 •	 the making of a recommendation.

Council is committed to dealing fairly and responsibly 
with all complaints and the complaints process is 
established to:

	 •	� treat complaints about decisions and other 
administrative actions of the council and 
complaints about minor breaches fairly, efficiently 
and consistently

	 •	� provide a complaints process that is easy to 
understand and readily accessible to all

	 •	� detect and rectify administrative errors, where 
appropriate

	 •	� identify areas for improvement in the council’s 
administrative practices

	 •	� increase awareness of the complaints process for 
Council’s employees and the community enhance 
the community’s confidence in the complaints 
process and the reputation of the Council as being 
accountable and transparent; and

	 •	� build employees’ capacity to effectively manage 
complaints in an environment of continuous 
improvement.

How the complaints management 
process is implemented
Consistent with the obligations under the Local 
Government Act 2009 Douglas Shire Council has 
adopted a Council endorsed policy and procedure for 
the management of administrative action complaints 
across the organisation. 

Complaints are managed through a five step process.  

Step 1: Receive and record complaint in writing

Step 2: Assign complaint and forward to relevant manager 
for investigation

Step 3: Manager investigation and response/report back

Step 4: Internal review by the Governance unit 

Step 5: External Review

Administrative Action Complaints 
Number

The number of Administrative Action Complaints 
made to the local government 

20 

The number of Administrative Action Complaints 
resolved by the local government under the 
complaints management process

20

The number of Administrative Action Complaints 
not resolved by the local government under the 
complaints management process

0

The number of Administrative Action Complaints 
not resolved by the local government under the 
complaints management process that were made 
in a previous financial year

0
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Section 189 Grants to Community Organisations
Council recognises that supporting organisations, groups, and individuals with financial (grants, sponsorship) and  
non-financial (in-kind) assistance helps develop and deliver community programs, activities and events that provide 
artistic, cultural, sporting, recreational, environmental outcomes, and social and economic benefits in the Douglas Shire.

Major Grants

Organisation Name Project Title Grant Awarded  
(ex GST)

Port Douglas Community Service Network Inc. Community Development Conference, November 2025 $10,000

Maconi Wave Inc (Douglas FM 101.5) Outreach radio broadcasting program/skills development $1,000

Douglas United Football Solar power installation $8,000

Goobidi Bamanga Community Advancement 
Cooperative Society Limited

NAIDOC 50 year celebration events $10,000

Douglas Shire Community Services Association Light Up The Park – promoting community connectedness $10,000

Mossman & District Show Society Incorporated 2025 Mossman Show Ball $10,000

Micro Grants

Organisation Name Project Title Grant Awarded  
(ex GST)

Mossman Youth Services NAIDOC Youth Event $1,000

Mossman Botanical Gardens Circle of Plenty $1,000

QCWA Port Douglas Painting improvement $1,000

Mossman Support Services Midday Movie Seniors $1,000

Paws and Claws Renew signage $910

University of the Third Age (U3A) Supplementary sign $631

Daintree Marketing Entertainment for CREB track opening $1,000

Fee Waive or Reduction/In kind/Sponsorship

Organisation Name Project Title Grant Awarded  
(ex GST)

Mossman Botanical Gardens Fee Waive - Mowing/slashing 24-70 Foxton Avenue $2,682

Port Douglas Wedding and Hire Fee Waive - Sugar Wharf for funeral $333

Community Health Mossman Hospital Fee Waive - Mossman Shire Hall $7,020

Port Douglas Neighbourhood Centre Fee Waive - Sugar Wharf for conference $1,663

Mossman Support Services Fee Waive - Movie screen $1,842
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Resource and Performance Agreements
Council provides assistance to commercial organisations through funding towards an events or projects aligned with 
the Corporate Plan objectives. This funding is available to an established event and can lead to an ongoing Resource 
and Performance Agreement over a number of years.

Organisation Name Purpose In-Kind Support Actual Funding 

Port Shorts Film Festival Inc Port Shorts Film Festival $5,000 $20,000 ex. GST

Connect Sport Australia Port Douglas Gran Fondo Festival $5,000 $75,000 inc. GST

Douglas Shire Historical Society Assistance with upkeep of museum $0 $5,000

Douglas Theatre Arts group – Clink Assistance with upkeep of theatre $0 $5,000

Tourism Port Douglas Daintree Tourism and Destination Marketing $0 $500,000

Regional Arts Development Fund (RADF)
The Regional Arts Development Fund (RADF) is a partnership between state and local governments which invests in 
quality arts and cultural experiences across Queensland based on locally determined priorities.

RADF promotes the importance of arts, culture and heritage as essential elements that drive diversity, inclusivity, 
and regional strength. All projects are endorsed by Council and grants can be allocated to eligible organisations and 
individuals.

Organisation name Project Title Grant Awarded 
(ex GST)

WePop Creative QLD Social Media Essentials $1,117

WePop Creative QLD Write.Record.Release $1,717

WePop Creative QLD Creative Marketing Essentials $1,117

Alison George Stories of the Artists of Yalanji Arts $5,000

David Pyke Composition of String Orchestra Work on the Mowbray 
River

$5,000

Victoria Park Submergence $5,000

Ray Lafragua Believe $5,000

Douglas Theatre Arts Music Theatre and TV Presenter Workshop $5,000

Gillian Vance Upcycling for All $5,000

Crystral Leonardi Douglas Shire Book Festival $5,000

Robyn Ross Grandpa and Joe $5,000
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Section 190 Other Contents
Section 190(1)(d) Action taken for, and 
expenditure on, a service, facility or 
activity 
Section 190(1)(d) of the LGR requires Council to 
report details of any action taken in relation to, and 
expenditure on, a service, facility, or activity:

	 (i)	� Supplied by another local government under an 
agreement for conducting a joint government 
activity; and 

	 (ii)	�For which the local government levied special 
rates or charges for the financial year.

Council had no details to report for the 2024-25 financial 
year under this section. Nothing to report. 

Section 190(1)(e) Changes to Tenders
Section 190(1)(e) of the LGR requires that the local 
government’s Annual Report include the number of 
invitations to change tenders under s 228(8) of the LGR 
during the financial year.

There were no invitations to change tenders made 
during the 2024-2025 financial year.

Section 190(1)(f) List of Key Registers
Section 190(1)(f) of the LGR requires that the local 
government’s Annual Report include a list of the 

registers kept by the local government. Some of these 
registers are publicly available on the website:

	 •	 Administrative Action Complaints Register
	 •	 Asset Register
	 •	 Authorised Persons Register
	 •	 Conflict of Interest Register
	 •	 Contract Register
	 •	 Corporate Risk Register
	 •	 Councillor Conduct Register
	 •	 Delegations Register – Council to CEO
	 •	 Delegations Register – CEO to staff
	 •	 Gifts and Benefits Register
	 •	 Local Laws Register
	 •	 MNDB Register
	 •	 Policy Register
	 •	 Register of Fees and Charges
	 •	 Register of Interests of Councillors
	 •	� Register of Interests of Key Management 

Personnel
	 •	 �Register of Pre-Qualified Suppliers for Wet Plant 

Hire
	 •	 �Register of Pre-Qualified Suppliers for Electrical, 

Plumbing and Trades Maintenance
	 •	 Register of Sole and Specialised Suppliers
	 •	 RTI and Disclosure Log Register.

Section 190(1)(g) Concessions for 
Rates and Charges
Section 190(1)(g) of the LGR requires that the local 
government’s Annual Report include a summary of all 
concessions for rates and charges granted by the local 
government.

Current Concessions
Pensioner Remission – the rebate is up to 40% of the 
General Rate to a maximum of $1,350.00pa.

Rates Based Financial Assistance (Not for Profit 
Recreation, Sporting and Community Groups) –  
is 100% General Rates and 50% sewerage. 

Conservation Rebate – 50% General Rates if over 50% 
of property is covered under the Nature Conservation 
Act 1992. 

Conservation Rebate – 35% of General Rates if under 
50% of property is covered by the Nature Conservation 
Act 1992. 

Permits to Occupy Land on the Daintree River (Fishing 
Huts) – the rebate is 50% of General Rates.

Current Special Charges
Rural Fire Brigades (per rateable assessment per 
financial year):

	 •	 Mowbray Valley Rural Fire Brigade	 $50.00 
	 •	 Daintree Rural Fire Brigade		  $15.00 
	 •	 Thornton Peak Rural Fire Brigade	 $8.00 
	 •	 Wonga Rural Fire Brigade		  $35.00 
	 •	 Bloomfield River Rural Fire Brigade	 $25.00 

Refuse Disposal: $225.98 per unit on each rateable 
assessment that does not receive the Council kerbside 
waste and recyclables collection service.

Section 190(1)(h) Internal Audit
Report on the internal audit for the financial year

Section 190(1)(h) of the LGR requires that the local 
government’s Annual Report include the report on the 
Internal Audit for the financial year. 

Council’s Audit Committee has the principal objective 
to assist Council to fulfill its corporate governance role 
and oversight responsibility relating to accounting and 
reporting practices.

Council’s internal audit function is established 
through a ‘co-sourced’ service delivery arrangement 
with an external agency to provide an independent 
and objective assessment and evaluation of control 
measures to manage Council’s operational risks. 

This arrangement provides us with access to extensive 
expertise and skills, seamless service delivery and 
an opportunity to mentor, build capacity and drive 
performance.
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A risk-based approach was used when developing our 
Internal Audit Plan to direct internal audit focus to areas 
of higher risk. 

Council has established an Internal Audit function 
in accordance with s207 of the Local Government 
Regulation 2012.

Findex (Aust) Pty Ltd T/A Crowe Australasia was 
appointed as Council’s Internal Auditor to provide 
internal audit services for Council for 2023 to 2025. 

For the 2024-25 financial year an Internal Audit review 
was conducted on:

	 •	 Data Collection and Management
	 •	 Recruitment Practices

A third review into asset management commenced 
during the financial year but was a work in progress as 
at June 2025. 

Sections 190(1)(i) and (j) Competitive 
Neutrality Complaints
Section 190(1)(i) of the LGR requires that the local 
government’s Annual Report include a summary of 
investigation notices given in the financial year under 
s 49 of the LGR for competitive neutrality complaints 
and the local government’s responses in the financial 
year on the Queensland competition Authority (QCA) 
recommendations on any competitive neutrality 
complaints under s 52(3) of the LGR.

During the 2024-25 financial year Council was not 
in receipt of any investigation notices under s 49 of 
the Local Government Regulation 2012. Council was 
not in receipt of any QCA recommendations on any 
competitive neutrality complaints under s 52(3) of the 
Local Government Regulation 2012.

Public Sector Ethics Act 1994 
The Public Sector Ethics Act 1994 requires that the 
Annual Report of each public sector entity, including 
a local government, must include an implementation 
statement giving details of the action taken during the 
reporting period to comply with the following sections:

Section 15 (Preparation of codes of conduct) 
Council has a Code of Conduct for employees which 
incorporates the ethics, principles and obligations 
under the Public Sector Ethics Act 1994. 

A copy of the Code of Conduct is available on 
Council’s website.

Section 21 (Education and training) 
Compulsory Code of Conduct training continues 
to be rolled out with all new employees during the 
financial year.

Section 22 (Procedures and practices of public 
sector entities) 
Council is committed to ensuring a workplace free 
of discrimination and harassment. Council has three 
policies in place including:

	 •	� Workplace Health and Safety General 
Policy – supported by a robust framework of 
procedures, practices, audits, reporting and 
review mechanisms

	 •	� Equal Employment Opportunity (EEO) and 
Workforce Diversity General Policy

	 •	� Unacceptable Complainant Conduct Handling 
Policy and procedure.
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Community  
Financial Report
The Annual Report must contain the community financial report for the financial year.

Council’s general purpose financial statements are for the period, 
1 July 2024 to 30 June 2025, and have been prepared in accordance with 
the requirements of the Local Government Act 2009, the Local Government 
Regulation 2012 and Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations. 
They have also been audited by the Queensland Audit Office.

This community financial report provides a summary 
of the financial statements with the aim of providing 
understandable information to the members of our 
community. 

The financial statements include the following:

•	� Statement of Comprehensive Income – includes 
Council’s operating and capital revenue and 
operating and capital expenses for the period.

•	 �Statement of Financial Position – provides details 
of Council’s current and non-current assets and 
liabilities.

•	 �Statement of Changes in Equity – identifies 
movements in Council’s equity balance.

•	� Statement of Cash Flows – shows the movement 
in Council’s cash position during the period and 
excludes all non-cash items such as depreciation.

•	� Notes to the Financial Statements – provide details 
of significant accounting policies and supporting 
information relating to the major statements, including 
a detailed breakdown of property, plant and 
equipment.

•	� Measures of Financial Sustainability – provide 
sustainability indicators designed to help monitor the 
current and long-term sustainability of Council.

Financial Statements for the period, 1 July 2024 to 
30 June 2025, at a glance

Operating Revenue $67,575,593

Operating Expenses ($66,736,149)

Operating Position $839,444

Capital Revenue $47,529,589

Capital Expenses  ($1,676,530)

Net Result $46,692,503

Current Assets $79,610,873

Non-Current Assets $572,851,402

Total Assets $652,462,274

Current Liabilities $52,690,972

Non-Current Liabilities $4,359,066

Total Liabilities $57,050,039

Net Community Assets (Equity) $595,412,235
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Statement of  
Comprehensive Income 
The following graph and table show the composition of 
Council’s income for the reporting period.

Income by percentage

Rates, levies and charges 38.15%

Fees and charges 6.92%

Rental income 0.30%

Interest received 2.35%

Other recurrent revenue 1.16%

Grants, subsidies, contributions and donations 
Excluding Disaster related

14.58%

Grants disaster related 36.35%

Other capital income .19%

100.00%

Grants, subsidies, contributions and donations & 
Grants disaster related

Includes capital grants, subsidies, contributions and 
donations; this includes $41.5 million for the restoration 
of damage to roads and infrastructure caused by 
Tropical Cyclone Jasper and $221,000 for assets 
contributed by developers. For the year ended 30 June 
2025, Council had also received $8.9 million for the 
Financial Assistance grant which included a  
$3.1 million prepayment for the 2025/2026 grant.

Other Capital Income

Includes landfill provision adjustments and revaluation 
up of property, plant and equipment.

Further details regarding income can be located in 
notes 3 to 5 of the financial statements.

The following graph and table show the composition of 
Council’s expenses for the reporting period. A portion 
of $4.7 million has continued to be spent on disaster 
related activities.

Total Income
$115m

Rates, levies and charges  $43.9m
Fees and charges $8.0m
Rental income $0.34m
Interest received $2.7m
Other recurrent revenue $1.33m
Grants, subsidies, contributions 
  and donations (excluding disaster) $16.8m
Grants – disaster related $41.83m
Other capital income $0.2m

Total Expenses
$68.4m

Employee benefits $20.5m
Materials and services  $23.4m
(excluding disaster)
Materials and services –  $4.7m
disaster related 
Finance costs $0.5m
Depreciation and amortisation $17.6m
Capital expenses $1.7m
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Expenses by percentage

Employee benefits 30.03%

Materials and services 34.17%

Materials and services disaster related 6.90%

Finance costs 0.66%

Depreciation and amortisation 25.79%

Capital expenses 2.45%

100.00%

Further details can be located in notes 6 to 9, note 13 
and 14 of the financial statements.

Operating Position
Council’s operating position reflects its ability to meet 
day-to-day operating costs from its operating revenue. 
This includes its ability to fund the depreciation 
of assets.

It is determined by deducting operating expenses from 
operating revenue and shows an operating surplus of 
$839,400, compared to a revised budgeted operating 
deficit of $534,800.  

The events that have had significant impact on this 
result: Depreciation has increased as a result of the 
increase in Council’s property, plant and equipment 
balances. The increase in asset values can be 
attributed to a combination of the requirement to index 
asset values to reflect inflation and the increased capital 
works due to Tropical Cyclone Jasper. The change 
in timing for the payment of the Financial Assistance 
Grant whereby Council has received a 50% payment in 
advance for the 2025-2026 grant.

As below, the variance of $1.4 million is mainly due to a 
number of items of operating revenue and expenditure 
that were not anticipated when the revised budget was 
adopted:   

•	� Net rates and utility charges are $149,000 above 
budget, primarily due to some property growth and 
increased water usage.

•	 Fees and Charges are below budget $473,000.  
	 — �Daintree Ferry under budget $161,000 primarily 

due to a reported slower rebound of the tourism 
season.

	 — �Mossman Pool and Van Park below budget 
$49,000, and Wonga Beach Van Park below 
budget $64,000, due to some restrictions on site 
availability and  reported slow start to tourism 
season.

	 — �Building and property fees $234,000 below 
budget, due to the withdrawal of an application 
and slowing in applications for building services.

	 — Refuse fees above budget $30,000.
•	� Grants and subsidies were $1.4 million above 

budget. As mentioned previously, the 50% 
prepayment of the 2025-2026 Financial Assistance 
Grant of $3 million dollars was received. This has 
been offset by the final payments for Tropical 
Cyclone Jasper Insurance and emergent works yet to 
be received.

•	� Interest received was above budget $765,000, 
primarily due to the ongoing increased interest rates 
and cash holdings from the 30% grant deposit for 
reconstruction works.

•	 Other recurrent income is $61,000 above budget.
•	 �Employee benefits were below budget $1.3 million.  

This was primarily due to unfilled positions which has 
been partially offset in Materials and Services.  
At 30 June 25 Council had engaged 173 full-time, 
28 part-time, 14 casual employees and 5 elected 
members.

•	� Materials and services expenditure were above 
budget by $891,000. The use of temporary staff 
to replace unfilled positions mentioned above and 
inflationary pressures also contribute to this variance.

•	� Finance costs were above budget by $352,000 
due to the re-estimation calculation for the landfill 
provision. 

•	� An increase in depreciation of $572,000 above 
budget is primarily due to a combination of the 
requirement to index asset values to reflect inflation 
and the increased capital works due to Tropical 
Cyclone Jasper.
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The following table provides details of Council’s budgeted operating result compared to the actual result for the 
reporting period.

Douglas Shire Council Budget vs Actuals  
for the 2024-2025 Financial Year

Budget ($) Actuals 2024-2025 Audited  
Financial Statements ($)

Operating Revenue

Net rates and utility charges 43,772,200 43,921,119

Fees and charges 8,434,506 7,962,247

Grants and subsidies 9,930,203 11,312,777

Interest received 1,938,902 2,704,324

Other recurrent income 1,613,650 1,675,126

Total Operating Revenue 65,689,461 67,575,593

Operating Expenses

Employee benefits 21,848,491 20,545,411

Materials and services 27,204,946 28,096,182

Depreciation 17,072,227 17,644,227

Finance costs 98,599 450,329

Total Recurrent Expenses 66,224,263 66,736,149

Operating Result (534, 802) 839,444

The following graph shows Council’s budgeted year to date operating result compared to its actual year to date 
operating result on a month-by-month basis for the reporting period.

Net Result
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ACTUAL
BUDGET

Council’s net result is determined by deducting total 
expenses (operating expenses and capital expenses) 
from total income (total revenue and capital income). 
The overall net result is a Surplus of $46.7 million. 
This surplus has occurred primarily due to the receipt 
of grant funding for the reconstruction works associated 
with Tropical Cyclone Jasper and the subsequent rain 
event. This result includes some items of revenue which 
are restricted as follows:

•	� Developer contributions – cash contributions made 
by developers to fund future infrastructure assets 

have restrictions placed on their use and are 
constrained.

•	� Other constrained revenue – raised from other 
sources, for example grant funds provided for a 
specific purpose.

It also includes non-monetary values such as:

•	� Gain/Loss on disposal/write-off of non-current assets.

Adjustments to the value of Council’s landfill restoration 
provision – as a result of a re-estimation of the future 
cost to restore the landfill sites.
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Total Assets
$652.4m

Cash and cash equivalents $63.7m
Trade and other receivables $6.7m
Pre-payments $0.5m
Contract assets $8.6m
Inventories $0.1m
Property, plant and equipment $572.6m
Right use of assets $0.2m

Property, 
Plant & 

Equipment
$572.6m

Land and land improvements $34.1m
Buildings and other structures $45.67m
Plant and equipment  $5.5m
Office furniture and fittings $0.03m
Transport assets $225.0m
Water, sewerage and solid  $179.0m
waste disposal
Drainage $40.4m
Marine $3.5m
Work in progress $39.4m

Statement of  
Financial Position
Assets
Council assets, as at 30 June 2025, total $652.4 million. 
This includes $79.6 million of current assets (cash and 
other assets that are expected to be converted to cash or 
consumed within a year) and $572.8 million of non-current 
assets. Property, plant and equipment makes up 87.8% of 
total assets.

Current assets consist of cash and cash equivalents, 
investments (short term deposits), trade and other 
receivables, prepayments, grant funds earned but not yet 
received (contract assets), inventories and assets held for 
sale. Non-current assets consist of long-term assets like 
property, plant and equipment, including capital works in 
progress.

The following graph shows the composition of 
Council’s assets.

The following graph shows the composition of property, 
plant and equipment.

 

Further details can be located in notes 10 to 15 of the 
financial statements.
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Total Liabilities
$57.0m

Trade and other payables $11.4m
Borrowings $0.0m
Lease Liabilities $0.2m
Contract liabilities $35.9m
Leave provisions $4.9m
Landfill provisions $4.4m
Unearned revenue $0.2m

Liabilities
Total liabilities, as at 30 June 2025, are $57 million. 
This includes $52.7 million of current liabilities (due to be 
settled within twelve months) and $4.3 million of non-
current liabilities. Liabilities mostly consist of amounts 
owing to suppliers, amounts owing to employees for 
leave entitlements and provision for the future cost of 
restoring landfills.

The following graph shows the composition of Council’s 
liabilities.

 

Further details can be found in notes 15 to 17 of the 
notes to the financial statements.

Community Equity
Council’s total community equity, as at 30 June 2025, is 
$595.4 million and represents Council’s asset revaluation 
surplus of $133.2 million (increase in values of property, 
plant and equipment as a result of comprehensive 
revaluations) and retained surplus of $462.2 million. This is 
determined by deducting the value of total liabilities from 
the value of total assets.

Further details can be found in note 18 of the notes to 
the financial statements.

Borrowings and Repayments
During the period Council did not apply for any new loans, 
therefore the loans balance as at 30 June 2025 is $0 and 
Council’s debt per rateable property is $0.
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Below displays the current-year Financial Sustainability Statement of audited ratios for the year ended 30 June 2025. 

Type Measure Target (Tier 5) Actual 
Current 
Year

5 Year 
Average

Council Narrative

Council

Liquidity Unrestricted 
Cash Expense 
Cover Ratio

Greater than 4 
months (single 
year)

6.81 N/A Council has sufficient unrestricted cash to 
contribute toward the cost of future planned and 
unplanned expenditures.

Operating 
Performance

Operating 
Surplus Ratio

Greater than -2% 
(5 year average)

1.66% -1.54% Council is comfortably covering its core 
operational expenditure.

Operating 
Cash Ratio

Greater than 0% 
(5 year average)

28.04% 23.40% Council is comfortably covering its core 
operational requirements.

Asset 
Management

Asset 
Sustainability 
Ratio

Greater than 90% 
(5 year average)

265.01% 129.28% Council is spending appropriate levels on renewal 
of assets.

Asset 
Consumption 
Ratio

Greater than 60% 
(5 year average)

61.77% 62.10% Council’s assets are being consumed in line with 
their estimated useful lives.

The current year Financial Sustainability Statement is prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Local 
Government Regulation 2012 and the Financial Management (Sustainability) Guideline 2024. The amounts used to 
calculate the five reported measures are prepared on an accrual basis and are drawn from the Council’s audited 
general purpose financial statements of the year ended 30 June 2025.

Further information

Further detail can be found in Council’s financial statements which are included at the end of this Annual Report.

Measures of  
Financial Sustainability
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Image courtesy Tourism Tropical North Queensland

Financial 
Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2025
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Acronyms and Abbreviations
AASB Australian Accounting Standards Board

ABS PPI Australian Bureau of Statistics Producer 
Price Index

ANZAC Australian and New Zealand Army Corps

ATO Australian Taxation Office

BAU Business As Usual

BYO Bring Your Own

CEO Chief Executive Officer

CREB Cairns Regional Electricity Board

DETSI Department of Environment, Tourism, 
Science and Innovation

DMU Disaster Management Unit

DRFA Disaster Recovery Funding 
Arrangements

EEO Equal Employment Opportunity

FNQ Far North Queensland

GIS Geographic Information System

GST Goods and Services Tax

HR Human Resources

ICT Information and Communications 
Technology

Inc. Incorporated

IPWEA Institute of Public Works Engineering 
Australasia

KMP Key Management Personnel

LDCC Local Disaster Coordination Centre

LDMP Local Disaster Management Plan

LGA Local Government Act 2009

LGM Local Government Mutual Scheme

LGMA Local Government Managers Australia

LGR Local Government Regulations 2012

LHAP Local Housing Action Plan

MNDB Mandatory Notification of Data Breach

MOU Memorandum of Understanding

NAIDOC National Aboriginal and Islander Day 
Observance Committee

Q1 Quarter 1

QCA Queensland Competition Authority

QCWA Queensland Country Women’s 
Association

QRA Queensland Reconstruction Authority

QLD Queensland

QTC Queensland Treasury Corporation

RADF Regional Arts Development Fund

RAP Reconciliation Action Plan

RAW Reconciliation Action Week

REPA Reconstruction of Essential Public Assets

RSL Returned and Services League of 
Australia

RTI Right To Information

SA South Australia

SES State Emergency Service

SVS State Valuation Service

T/A Trading As

TC Tropical Cyclone

TEQ Tourism and Events Queensland

TPDD Tourism Port Douglas Daintree

U3A University of the Third Age

Feedback
You can submit feedback on the Annual Report by emailing enquiries@douglas.qld.gov.au, 
using the online form at douglas.qld.gov.au/contact-us/#FEEDBACK, or by scanning the 
QR code to the right.
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